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Business Review

In this extremely difficult year the

Directors have paid great attention to

preserving our cash reserves, which

we have managed to successfully

achieve whilst realigning our cost

base to accommodate the recession.

Net cash balances at the year-end

were £2.5 million compared to £1.7

million at the start of the year. This

prudent approach is designed to

ensure that the Group will be well

positioned to take advantage of new

opportunities that should arise when

our markets recover from their

present sorry state. 

The Directors have also considered

the need for tight cash control when

proposing the level of final dividend

that should be paid to Shareholders.

Consequently, we are proposing a

final dividend of 1.0p per share at the

forthcoming AGM (2007: 2.3p). This,

when added to the interim dividend

paid in May 2008, makes a total for

the year of 2.0 p (2007: 4.6p).  If

approved by shareholders, the

dividend will be payable on 20

February 2009 to shareholders on the

register on 23 January 2009.  The ex

dividend date is 21 January 2009.

Financial Performance

Net Loss before Tax for the year to 30 September 2008 was £0.06 million

(2007: profit £0.46 million), on Revenue 5.3% lower at £16.38 million (2007:

£17.29 million). A deferred tax charge of £195,000,  primarily due to the

phasing out of industrial buildings allowances, has contributed

significantly to a reduction in Earnings per share to -2.5p (2007: 4.2p).
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Net cash balances at the
year-end were £2.5 million



Naturally, as our financial results

suggest, it has been a disappointing

trading year for Titon, and not at all

in line with original expectations.

The quality and profitability of orders

from our customers began to

weaken early in the first half putting

pressure on all aspects of our

business. By the half year our

revenues were approximately 2%

lower than the corresponding

period of the previous year and it

was evident that our particular

markets were already moving

towards recession.  As the year

progressed, many of our plans for

the future were put on hold to

enable us to address the falling

market and the stresses of

accommodating the many problems

associated with the downsizing of

our operations.  Our customers

experienced greatly reduced order

books, which in turn has led to

difficulties in payment, redundancies

for their staff – and in some cases,

administration. During the second

half, the UK housing market has

deteriorated further and more

rapidly, resulting in many builders

and developers literally ‘shutting up

shop’ and severely reducing their

purchases from component

suppliers. What initially appeared to

be solid growth in the building

industry, benefiting customers,

employees and shareholders alike,

was eventually exposed as a dream

built on massive debts.  The

financial institutions involved have a

great deal to answer to many

industries and individuals

throughout the world.

In July we announced our decision

to invest £675,000 in a new ‘Joint

Venture’ with our South Korean

distributors, Browntech Sales Co.

Ltd. This investment involved

establishing a ‘Titon’ manufacturing

base in that country as well as

purchasing a 49% stake in

Browntech Sales Co. Ltd. The

worldwide credit crisis has also

affected South Korea and

construction activity there is in

decline. We are, however,

encouraged by the initial contracts

that are being won and by the

longer-term opportunities that exist.

Trading Commentary
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Business Review (continued)

At the start of the trading year, the number of Titon employees was 256.  Although numbers had fluctuated

to accommodate changing product ranges and temporary stock increases the level was, at that time,

broadly compatible with overall market conditions and our plans for the future.  As our markets deteriorated,

and order levels reduced, it became clear that the situation was serious and our employee numbers were

not sustainable.  Most reluctantly, we initiated redundancies within the Group, losing a total of 44 from

various departments through forced reductions. These redundancies along with natural wastage over the

year have resulted in overall numbers falling by 70 to 186 at the end of the financial year - an overall 27%

reduction, at a cost of £151,000. The starkness of this statement does not express my deep personal

sadness for the circumstances that surround the decision on redundancies and the moral and social issues

that arise.  I can only give my sincere thanks to all those involved in this process, and my deep regrets to

those who are no longer part of the Titon team.

Situations continue to change almost

daily, and it would be most unwise to

forecast what may happen in the

coming months.  However, I can

advise shareholders and our staff that

Titon is currently financially strong

and controlling its costs. We will

continue to preserve cash and are

optimistic about the forthcoming

launch of a range of leading edge

powered ventilation products. We are

also proactively seeking out other

opportunities in the ventilation

market.  

Global markets are currently suffering

a major upheaval, unprecedented

during Titon’s existence. Our business

is directly exposed to the housing

market in the UK and it is the recovery

of this market which is the key to our

future. However, we will continue our

fight for success, and we will continue

to pursue all available business in the

manner that is the trademark of the

Group.  Whilst there are a few

encouraging signs in some markets,

the next 12 months is certain to be a

most challenging period.

Employees

Prospects

John Anderson
Chairman
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D A Ruffell
Chief Executive
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Directors' Report
The Directors present their report and the Group financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2008.

Results and dividends
The consolidated income statement is set out on page 22 and shows a loss after tax of £264,000 (2007: profit
£444,000) for the year.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final ordinary dividend of 1.0p (2007: 2.3p) per ordinary share. This, when
taken with the interim dividend of 1.0p (2007: 2.3p) per ordinary share paid on 26 June 2008, gives a total dividend of
2.0p (2007: 4.6p) per ordinary share for the year ended 30 September 2008.

Principal activities, trading review and future developments

The principal activities of the Group are the design, manufacture and marketing of ventilation products and window fittings.

The Group markets a comprehensive range of passive and powered ventilation products to house builders, electrical
contractors and window manufacturers. In addition to this, it is a leading supplier of window handles, hinges and
locking mechanisms to its window-manufacturing customers. 

The Business Review contains information relating to trading activity throughout the year. Further explanation and
analysis is given below.

Revenues, when compared to the corresponding period last year, have declined gradually throughout the period,
reflecting the downturn in construction activity that has been widely reported by others. 1st half year sales were 2.0%
lower than 2006/07 and 2nd half year sales were 8.6% down.

Whilst the first half-year produced a profit before tax of £151,000, the reduced market activity and the subsequent
exceptional costs during the second half-year have resulted in a loss before tax of £210,000 during that period, and
a full year net loss before tax of £59,000.

The Group has placed great emphasis during the year on reducing the costs of the business in line with the fall in
revenues being experienced. To that end we have significantly reduced employee numbers as reported in the Business
Review, leading to Revenue per Employee increasing to £70,000 compared to £66,000 in 2006/07. The cost of
making staff reductions through redundancy was £151,000. The total annual cost savings through reduced numbers
will be in excess of £1 million, including £600,000 in respect of the 44 redundancies. In addition to payroll savings,
other cost saving measures were implemented during the year that will only have a full impact during 2008/09. These
initiatives include the termination of the two leased premises that we recently vacated, at an annual saving of £80,000.

In July the Group announced the formation of a ‘Joint Venture’ agreement with our South Korean distributors,
Browntech Sales Co., Ltd. (BTS). Under the agreement, the Group has invested £225,000 for a 49% shareholding
in BTS and has provided a further £100,000 of loan capital. The Group has also invested £356,000 in a new Korean
subsidiary, Titon Korea Co. Ltd (TK) and will have a 51% holding after the completion of the ‘Joint Venture’. The
remaining 49% of TK will be held by a non-trading sister company to BTS, Browntech Co. Ltd, which will contribute
its intellectual property interests to the business. Exclusive supply and distribution agreements have been
established between TK and BTS. The initial costs of establishing the ‘Joint Venture’ and the trading losses since
its inception, together amount to £125,000 and have been charged against Group profits during the period.

In addition to the ‘exceptional costs’ of making redundancies and establishing the Korean ‘Joint Venture’, there have
been other factors that have contributed to the unsatisfactory financial performance. Firstly, the weakness of Sterling
against the Euro has had a detrimental effect on our margins. The cost of the die-castings that the Group sources from
Eastern Europe have been adversely effected by the depreciating pound as have the wide range of products that it
sources from Western European for re-selling. Secondly, the incidence of bad debts has increased as the UK building
industry, especially the new housing sector, entered recession. The bad debts charge in the year was £146,000
compared to only £27,000 in 2006/07.

Despite the trading loss recorded, the financial position of the Group remains strong with net assets of £10.2 million
including £2.5 million of cash at the year-end. The Group has reduced inventories by £0.5m during the year to a level
compatible with trading and aims to make further reductions over the coming year whilst maintaining the high levels
of customer service synonymous with the Titon name.

The Directors believe that with new ventilation products due to be introduced in the coming year, Titon will have a
greater market presence and a major opportunity to increase our sales when eventually the market recovers from the
financial trauma now being experienced by most in the building sector.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Directors are fully aware that we are operating in an unprecedented and extremely volatile period. The damage
inflicted by financial institutions both at home and abroad has totally destabilised our market, and has now led the UK
and other countries around the world into recession. Construction activity has been particularly affected by recent
events and the Group has seen sales volumes decline as reported above.  The depth of the recession is still unknown,
but indications are that many of the Group's markets will continue to deteriorate in 2009.

Financial instrument risk management
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency exchange risk.
More information regarding the Group’s approach to these risks are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. However, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of customers and uses appropriate internal
procedures to ensure credit risks are well managed.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s banking facilitates are designed to ensure that there are sufficient funds available for the current operations
and the Group’s further development plans. 

Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translational risk. The Group considers the overall translational risk to be small given the nature and overall size of its
foreign investments.

Operational risk management
There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Group’s
performance. The Group has a system of risk management which identifies these items and seeks ways of mitigating
such risks as far as possible. The key risks which the Group believes it is exposed to are noted below.

The policies that are adopted to identify and manage significant risks are set out on page 19.

Key Commercial Relationships

Whilst the Group has a diverse range of customers there are certain key customers who account for significant levels
of revenue. Some risk exists that the current performance of the Group may not be maintained if such relationships
were not to continue. Key customer accounts are therefore continuously monitored by nominated Directors. The Group
considers it not to be in the interests of shareholders to disclose the names of key customers.

43% of Group revenue comprises products purchased from other UK and European manufacturing entities. The
ongoing supply of product lines by Maco Door and Window Hardware (UK) Ltd,  A/S Peder Nielsen Beslagfabrik,
Securistyle Limited, Sobinco S.A. and certain mechanical ventilation suppliers are important to Group profits and the
relationships with key suppliers are also handled by a nominated Director.

Competition

The market for the supply of Ventilation Systems and Window Hardware remains highly competitive. The Group seeks to
manage the risk of losing customers to competition through the development of new products, through the specification
of product with end users and through maintaining strong relationships and local representation with key customers.

The UK market for ventilation is largely determined by regulation. The Group recognises that the pace of bringing forward
amendment to regulation will increase and it will, therefore, continue to place a high emphasis on regulatory developments.

Reliance on production facilities

The Group manufactures a significant proportion of the products that it sells. Inventory levels and duplication of key
processes, tooling and component supplies have been established to minimise the risks involved in inability to supply
customers. In addition the Group has established procedures to minimise the risks of fire and major disruption.

Product Quality and Product Breakdown

The Group operates comprehensive BS EN ISO 9001: 2000 procedures to ensure that product complaints are quickly
and effectively dealt with. Monthly meetings are held that include members of the senior management team where both
product quality and product complaint issues are discussed and appropriate action recommended. Effective Quality
Control systems form part of the Company’s BS EN ISO 9001: 2000 procedures and are embedded within the culture
of the Company.

Titon Holdings Plc 2008 Annual Report & Accounts
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Other risks

As with any manufacturing organisation, health and safety matters represent an increasing area of risk. The Group
employs a full time Health and Safety Officer and has an effective structure to support a robust Health and Safety
policy. This includes a Health and Safety Management Committee and Health and Safety Representatives in all areas
of the business.

The Group maintains a comprehensive range of insurance policies covering its employees, assets and other risk areas,
which are reviewed on an on-going basis.

There have been no events since the balance sheet date that materially affect the position of the Group.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for its shareholders and benefits for its other stakeholders.

The Group considers its capital to comprise ordinary share capital, share premium and accumulated retained earnings.
Neither the translation reserve nor the share schemes reserve are considered as capital. There have been no changes
in what the Group considers to be capital since 2006/07.

In order to maintain or adjust its working capital at an acceptable level and meet strategic investment needs, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or sell assets.

The Group does not seek to maintain any particular debt to capital ratio, but will consider investment opportunities on
their merits and fund them in the most effective manner.

Environmental issues
As previously recorded, the Group has a high commitment to all environmental matters within our industry, and is
pleased to record that, during the year, it achieved the requirements for the Environmental Management System ISO
14001: 2004 accreditation. This was granted in October 2007 at the start of the financial year, and the Group adopted
recommended systems of control to ensure compliance for the benefit of customers, the Group, and most important
of all, the environment.

Directors' responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group, for safeguarding the assets of the Group, for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation of a Directors’ Report and Directors’
Remuneration Report which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985.  The Directors are also required to prepare financial statements for the Group in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs) and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation.  The Directors have chosen to prepare financial statements for the Parent Company in accordance with
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP).

Group financial statements

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements present fairly for each financial year the Group’s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  This requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets,
liabilities, income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the
preparation and presentation of financial statements’.  In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved
by compliance with all applicable IFRSs.  A fair presentation also requires the Directors to:

• consistently select and apply appropriate accounting policies;

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information; 

• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial
position and financial performance; and

• comply with IFRSs and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements.

Financial statements are published on the Group's website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Group's website is the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’
responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein. 



Parent Company financial statements

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company
will continue in business; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors at the time of approving the Directors’ Report are listed below. Having made enquiries of fellow Directors
and of the Officers of the Company, each of the Directors confirms that :

• To the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the preparation of their
report of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

• Each Director has taken all steps a Director might reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Directors' Report (continued)

Directors and their interests in shares
The Directors of the Company throughout the year and at the year end and their beneficial interests in the ordinary
share capital were as follows:

30 September 30 September
2008 2007

Ordinary shares Ordinary shares
of 10p each of 10p each

J N Anderson Chairman 2,237,802 2,237,802

D A Ruffell Chief Executive 71,000 71,000

T N Anderson Sales & Marketing Director 192,500 192,500

R Brighton Managing Director ( Manufacturing ) 20,000 20,000

P W E Fitt Non-executive Director and 
Vice Chairman - -

N C Howlett Development & Sustainability Director 13,750 13,750

C S Jarvis Export Director 45,000 45,000

C J Martin Sales Director ( Timber/ PVCu ) 63,850 63,850

K A Ritchie Non-executive Director 1,077,280 1,077,280

P E O’Sullivan Non-executive Director - -

Details of Directors’ share options are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 15.
There were no changes in Directors’ beneficial shareholdings between 30 September 2008 and 19 December 2008.

Directors liability insurance and indemnity
The Company has purchased liability insurance cover, which remains in force at the date of the report,  for the benefit
of the Directors of the Company which gives appropriate cover for legal action brought against them.  The Company
also provides an indemnity for its Directors (to the extent permitted by law) in respect of liabilities which could occur
as a result of their office. This indemnity does not provide cover should a Director be proved to have acted fraudulently
or dishonestly.
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Substantial shareholders
As at 19 December 2008, the Company had been notified of the following voting interests in its ordinary share capital,
disclosable under the Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the following holdings, other
than Directors’ holdings, of 3 per cent or more in the ordinary share capital of the Company:

Name Shares %

Discretionary Unit Fund Managers Ltd 2,065,000 19.6

Mrs A Clipsham 893,579 8.5

Share capital
The ordinary share capital at 30 September 2008 consisted of 10,555,650 Titon Holdings Plc shares of 10p each.
There were no changes during the year to the Company’s ordinary share capital. 

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at 30 September 2008 are set out in note 19
of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Purchase of own shares
The Company has authority from shareholders to purchase up to 10% of its own ordinary shares in the market. This
authority was not used during the year nor in the period to 19 December 2008. The Board intends to seek shareholder
approval to renew the authority at this year’s Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003, companies are
permitted to hold purchased shares rather than cancelling them. The Board has no current intention to purchase
shares as treasury shares.

Going concern
The Directors have reviewed the budgets, projected cash flows and other relevant information. On the basis of this
review the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

Market value of land and buildings
The Directors do not consider that there is any significant difference between the market value of freehold land and
buildings and their net book value, as shown in the financial statements.

Research and development
The Directors consider that research and development continues to play an important role in the Group’s success.
Investment in research and development amounted to £455,000 during the year (2007: £449,000).

Disabled employees
The Group gives full consideration to the career development and promotion of disabled persons, and to applications
for employment from disabled persons, where the requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a
handicapped or disabled person.  

The Group considers the training requirements of each disabled person on an individual basis.

Where an employee becomes disabled during the course of his or her employment, the Group will consider providing
that employee with such means, including appropriate training, as will enable the employee to continue to carry out
his or her job, where it reasonably can, or will attempt to provide an alternative suitable position.

Employee involvement
Employees are provided with information about the Group’s activities via the Employee Consultative Committee, other
staff meetings and staff notice boards. The Group aims to foster an environment in which employees and
management can enjoy a free flow of information and ideas.  

Staff members are, from time to time, invited to participate in the Group’s share option schemes. Participation is
based on seniority and length of service.



10

Titon Holdings Plc 2008 Annual Report & Accounts

Directors' Report (continued)

Creditor payment policy
The majority of suppliers to the Group are of a long standing nature with whom mutually acceptable payment terms have
been established over the relationship period. Generally payments will be made between 30 and 60 days from the end
of the month of delivery. In certain circumstances payment terms will be agreed with suppliers as part of the overall terms
of a transaction, and will be adhered to by the Group.  The Parent Company does not make any trade purchases.

In respect of the Group, year end trade creditors represent 56 days (2007: 42 days) average purchases.

Donations
During the year the Group made various charitable donations amounting to £1,000 (2007: £1,000).

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the Titon Manufacturing Division premises at Falconer Road, Haverhill,
Suffolk, CB9 7XU on 17 February 2009 commencing at 10.00 a.m.  A Notice convening the Annual General Meeting
of the Company for 2009 may be found on page 52 of this document.

Explanatory notes in relation to resolutions 7,8,9 and 11 appear below.

Resolution 7:
Authorities to allot shares and disapply pre-emption rights

Resolution 7, which will be proposed as an Ordinary Resolution, will renew the Directors’ authority to allot relevant
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £250,000 being equivalent to approximately 23.7% of the existing
share capital of the Company as at 19 December 2008 (calculated exclusive of treasury shares).  The Company does
not currently hold any shares in treasury.  This authority will expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company or on 16 May 2010, whichever shall occur earlier.  There is no intention at present of making any issues
of shares other than on the exercise of employee share options.

Resolution 8:
The disapplication of the statutory pre-emption rights

Resolution 8, which will be proposed as a Special Resolution, will renew the disapplication of the statutory pre-
emption rights.  It will permit the Directors, until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or on 16 May 2010,
whichever shall occur earlier, to allot shares otherwise than in accordance with the statutory pre-emption rights in
connection with a rights issue or on an allotment of shares for cash up to an aggregate nominal amount of £50,000
which is equivalent to approximately 4.7% of the existing issued share capital of the Company.  The authority sought
and the limits set by this Resolution will apply to a sale by the Company of any shares it holds as treasury shares.
Under legislation which came into effect in December 2003, companies are allowed to hold shares acquired by way
of market purchase as treasury shares, rather than having to cancel them.  Treasury shares may then be cancelled,
sold for cash or used to meet the Company’s obligations under its employee share-based incentive schemes. Any
subsequent transfers of treasury shares to satisfy the requirements of employee share-based incentive schemes will
be made within the 10% anti-dilution limit for such share issues.

Resolution 9:
Authority to repurchase ordinary shares

Resolution 9, which will be proposed as a Special Resolution, will renew the Company’s authority to make market
purchases of up to 1,055,565 ordinary shares (representing approximately 10% of its present issued share capital) at
a minimum price of 10 pence per share and a maximum price per share of not more than 5% above the average of
the middle market values of an ordinary share as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the 5
business days before the purchase is made, such authority to expire on the earlier of 16 May 2010 or the end of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company.  Shares repurchased by the Company will be held as treasury shares
to the extent the Company may lawfully do so.

This proposal should not be taken as an indication that the Company will purchase shares at any particular price or
indeed at all, and the Directors, who currently have no plans to make such purchases, will only consider making
purchases if they believe that to do so would result in an increase in earnings per share and that such purchases would
be in the best interests of shareholders generally.

The authority sought by Resolution 9 will apply equally to shares to be held by the Company as treasury shares.

As at 19 December 2008, there were options outstanding over 226,400 ordinary shares which, if exercised at that
date, would have represented 2.1% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.  If the authority given by
Resolution 9 were to be fully used, these would then represent approximately 2.3% of the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital.
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Resolution 11:
Adoption of new Articles of Association

Resolution 11, which will be proposed as a Special Resolution, asks the shareholders to approve the adoption of new
Articles of Association of the Company which have been amended to reflect the changes which have been enacted
by the Companies Act 2006 in relation to Directors’ conflicts of interests.   The amendments to the Articles of
Association will, if approved, take effect from the end of the Annual General Meeting. 

The proposed new Articles of Association are available for inspection during usual business hours at the registered
office of the Company on each business day before, and will be available at the place of the Annual General Meeting
for fifteen minutes prior to and during, the Meeting.

The Companies Act 2006 sets out Directors’ general duties which largely codify the existing law but with some
changes.  Under the Companies Act 2006, from 1 October 2008 a Director must avoid a situation where he has, or
can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict with the company’s interests. 
The requirement is very broad and could apply, for example, if a Director becomes a Director of another company or
a trustee of another organisation. The Companies Act 2006 allows directors of public companies to authorise conflicts
and potential conflicts, where appropriate, where the Articles of Association contain a provision to this effect. 
The Companies Act 2006 also allows the Articles of Association to contain other provisions for dealing with Directors’
conflicts of interest to avoid a breach of duty. The proposed changes to the Articles of Association would give the
Directors authority to approve such situations and to include other provisions to allow conflicts of interest to be dealt
with in a similar way to the current position. 

There are safeguards which will apply when Directors decide whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict.  First,
only Directors who have no interest in the matter being considered will be able to take the relevant decision, and
secondly, in taking the decision the Directors must act in a way they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to
promote the Company’s success.  The Directors will be able to impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation
if they think this is appropriate. 

It is also proposed that the new Articles should contain provisions relating to confidential information, attendance at
Board Meetings and availability of board papers to protect a Director being in breach of duty if a conflict of interest or
potential conflict of interest arises.  These provisions will only apply where the position giving rise to the potential
conflict has previously been authorised by the Directors. 

Other resolutions at the Annual General Meeting

Details of other resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting are set out in the enclosed Notice.

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 19 December 2008 and signed by order of the Board:

D A Ruffell
Secretary
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The Remuneration Committee presents its report to shareholders on Directors’ remuneration. Shareholders will be asked
to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report and a resolution to that effect will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting on 17 February 2009. The report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
1985, the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority and the Combined Code appended to the Listing Rules.

Unaudited information

Remuneration Committee
The Company’s policy on remuneration is determined by its Remuneration Committee. The Committee presently
consists of Mr P W E Fitt - a Non-executive Director, Mr J N Anderson – Group Chairman and Mr D A Ruffell - Group
Chief Executive.  Such persons also comprised the Remuneration Committee during the year and Mr P W E Fitt chairs
the Committee.

Remuneration policy
The Company’s policy on remuneration is to offer competitive remuneration packages, which are designed to reward,
retain and to motivate the Directors, having regard to the size and complexity of the Group. There are presently no
specific performance related elements included within remuneration, and the Committee will review this policy during
the coming year.

The individual components of the remuneration package offered are:

Basic salary

The basic salary of each Executive Director is determined by the Committee, giving due consideration to individual
responsibility and performance and to salaries paid to Executive Directors of similar companies in comparable business
sectors. Basic salaries are reviewed annually on 1 February.

Benefits

Benefits paid to Executive Directors comprise taxable non-cash emoluments and include the provision of company
cars and private health insurance.

Pension contributions

Executive Directors are members of the Company's defined contribution pension scheme in which the Company's
contribution is a fixed percentage at 10% of basic salary. Benefits are not pensionable.

In addition, the Executive Directors participate in the Company’s Group Life Insurance Scheme which provides a lump
sum payment of four times basic salary in the event of death in service.

Share option schemes
The Company provides share option schemes for Directors and for other members of staff. The Company grants
options at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

There are presently two share option schemes; one Inland Revenue approved and the other unapproved in which
employees may be invited to participate.  Both of these schemes were introduced in February 1998. The exercise of
options granted under these schemes is dependent upon the growth in the earnings per share of the Company, over
any three consecutive financial years following the date of grant, exceeding the growth in the retail price index over the
same period by at least 9 per cent. 

The performance conditions are aimed to align Directors’ performance to shareholder value and were selected by the
Remuneration Committee on the advice of the Company’s solicitors (the performance conditions are detailed in note
26 to the Financial Statements).  Actual earnings per share performance will be determined by the Remuneration
Committee.

Directors' Remuneration Report
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Directors' contracts
All Executive Directors have service contracts, entered into on 1 August 2008, which are renewed annually and which
provide for a 6 month notice period to be given either by the Company or by the Director. All Executive Directors’
current contracts expire on 31 July 2009.

All three of the Non-executive Directors have service contracts, that do not contain notice periods and which expire
on 31 January 2009. The remuneration for the Company’s Non-executive Directors is set by the Board, and consists
of fees for their services in connection with their role as Director and, where relevant, for additional services such as
chairing Board Committees. They are not eligible for pension scheme membership and do not participate in any of the
Company’s share option schemes.  Professor P E O’Sullivan has a one year contract, entered into on 1 February 2008,
to provide consultancy services to a subsidiary company for the sum of £18,175.

The Company’s policy on the duration of, and notice periods and termination payments under, Directors’ contracts is
designed to attract and retain persons of the calibre required by the Company, with due regard being given to the
interests of shareholders.

There are no pre-determined special provisions for Executive or Non-executive Directors with regard to compensation
in the event of loss of office. The Remuneration Committee considers the circumstances of individual cases of early
termination and determines compensation payments accordingly. 

The Directors may not directly or indirectly hold any directorship or engage or be interested in any other business other
than the Company or any other Group company during the term of their contracts without the previous written consent
of the Board.

Performance graph
The following graph shows the Company's 5-year performance, measured by total shareholder return, compared with
the equivalent performance of the FTSE All-Share Index.

This graph shows the percentage change in value of £1 invested in the Company on 30 September 2003 (assuming
dividends reinvested) compared with the percentage change in value of £1 (assuming dividends reinvested) in the FTSE
All-Share Index.  The Directors consider the FTSE All-Share Index to be an appropriate choice as the Company is
included within it.

Titon Holdings Plc
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Directors' Remuneration Report (continued)

Audited Information
The following disclosures on Directors’ remuneration and share options have been audited as required by part 3 of
Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985.

Directors' remuneration
The remuneration paid to the Directors during the year was as follows:

Basic Benefits Total Pension
Salary emoluments contributions

and fees

2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Executive:
J N Anderson 88 25 113 139 5 11
T N Anderson 67 11 78 72 6 6
R Brighton 68 10 78 78 7 7
N C Howlett 67 8 75 75 6 6
C S Jarvis 60 8 68 67 6 6
C J Martin 62 7 69 68 6 6
D A Ruffell 88 12 100 100 9 9

Non-Executive:
P W E Fitt 11 - 11 12 - -
P E O'Sullivan * 22 - 22 25 - -
K A Ritchie 3 - 3 3 - -

536 81 617 639 45 51

* Inclusive of £19,616 relating to consultancy fees for 2008 (2007: £22,500).

The remuneration package of each Executive Director includes non-cash benefits comprising the provision of a
company car and private health insurance.

The aggregate gains made by Directors on the exercise of share options during 2008 were £nil (2007: £nil).
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Share options
Details of the interests of Directors who served during the year in options over ordinary shares are as follows:-

Exercise price At Lapsed At
per share 1 October during the 30 September

2007 year 2008

Number Number Number

T N Anderson (c) 103.5p 10,000 - 10,000
(e) 91.0p 3,150 - 3,150

13,150 - 13,150

R Brighton (a) 86.5p 17,000 17,000 -
(c) 103.5p 10,000 - 10,000

27,000 17,000 10,000

N C Howlett (a) 86.5p 6,250 6,250 -
(c) 103.5p 10,000 - 10,000
(d) 99.0p 10,000 - 10,000

26,250 6,250 20,000

C S Jarvis (a) 86.5p 17,000 17,000 -
(c) 103.5p 10,000 - 10,000
(e) 91.0p 10,000 - 10,000

37,000 17,000 20,000

C J Martin (b) 89.0p 1,250 - 1,250
(c) 103.5p 10,000 - 10,000

11,250 - 11,250

D A Ruffell (a) 86.5p 17,000 17,000 -
(c) 103.5p 25,000 - 25,000
(e) 91.0p 14,000 - 14,000

56,000 17,000 39,000

P W E Fitt, P E O’Sullivan and K A Ritchie had no interests in options over shares during the year.

There have been no changes to the number of share options held by Directors between 30 September 2008 and 19
December 2008.

The options are exercisable between the following dates:

(a) 11 March 2001 and 11 March 2008 (expired)
(b) 2 June 2002 and 2 June 2009
(c) 18 January 2005 and 18 January 2012
(d) 18 May 2008 and 18 May 2015
(e) 18 May 2009 and 18 May 2016

The Directors may only exercise share options if the growth in the earnings per share of the Company over any period
of three consecutive financial years of the Company following the date of grant, exceeds the growth in the retail price
index over the same period by at least 9 per cent.

At 30 September 2008 the market price of the Company’s shares was 31.5p, and the range during the year was 26.5p to 87.5p.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the Remuneration Committee on 19 December 2008 and
signed on its behalf by:

P W E Fitt
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Compliance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
There is a commitment to high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group. The Board confirms that the
Company has complied throughout the accounting period with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the revised Combined
Code, which was issued in June 2006, except in the following areas:

• The Company has seven Executive Directors and three Non-executive Directors. The Non-executive Directors are
not deemed to be independent under the provisions of paragraph A.3.2 of the Code in respect of the Board
comprising at least two independent Non-executive directors. However, the Executive Directors consider that the
current Non-executive Directors are of sufficient character and independence to challenge the opinions of the
Executive Directors whilst, at the same time, providing a valuable contribution themselves to the strategic direction
of the Company.

• The Non-executive Directors have not met during the year to appraise the Chairman’s performance and therefore
the Company does not comply with paragraph A.1.3. The Non-executive Directors feel that in respect of this matter
a formal process is unnecessary.

• The Company has not appointed a senior independent director and therefore the Company does not comply with
part of paragraph A.3.3. The Directors do not consider this is to be necessary in a company of this size and
complexity.

• The Company does not have a nomination committee and therefore does not comply with paragraphs A.4.1, A.4.2
and A.4.6. The Directors feel that the nomination and appointment of Directors can be adequately carried out by
the Board as a whole.

• The Company has not undertaken performance evaluation of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees or the
Non-executive Directors, and has therefore not complied with paragraph A.6.1. The Directors believe that this is
not appropriate for a Company of this size and complexity. The Company operates an employee performance
management system that encompasses the Executive Directors.

• The Company has one Non-executive Director who has served more than nine years on the Board. The Board
does not intend to submit such Directors for annual re-election by shareholders and therefore the Company does
not comply with paragraph A.7.2. The Executive Directors consider the continuity of experienced Non-executive
Directors is important to the Company.

• The Company’s Remuneration Committee does not consist exclusively of Non-executive Directors and therefore
does not comply with paragraph B.2.1. The Directors consider that the current structure of the Committee is more
appropriate for assessing Director’s performance and contribution.

• Share options, as disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, are the only performance related element of
the Directors’ total remuneration package. As this does not constitute a significant proportion of the Directors’ total
remuneration, the Company does not comply with paragraph B.1.1.

• The Company’s Audit Committee currently comprises one Non-executive Director and the Chief Executive and
therefore the Company does not comply with paragraph C.3.1. The Directors consider that this present structure
is appropriate for a company of this size and complexity.

The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good corporate governance and the statements set out
on pages 16 to 19 describe how the principles identified in the Combined Code are applied by the Company.

Corporate Governance Report
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Composition and operation of the Board of Directors
As at 30 September 2008 the Board consisted of the Chairman, the Chief Executive, five other Executive Directors
and three Non-executive Directors. 

The Board has a schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for decision including major capital expenditure
decisions, business acquisitions and disposals and the setting of treasury policy.  This also includes matters such as
material financial commitments, commencing or settling major litigation and appointments to main and subsidiary
Company Boards.

Board meetings take place quarterly with a further meeting to approve the Annual Report and Financial Statements.

To enable the Board to function effectively and Directors to discharge their responsibilities, full and timely access is
given to all relevant information.  In the case of Board meetings, this consists of comprehensive management reporting
information and discussion documents regarding specific matters.

The individual attendance by Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors at the Board and principal Board
Committee Meetings held during the financial year is shown in the table below.

Main  Remuneration Audit
Board Committee Committee

5 meetings 1 meeting 1 meeting

J N Anderson 5 1 -

D A Ruffell 5 1 1

T N Anderson 4 - -

R Brighton 5 - -

N C Howlett 4 - -

C S Jarvis 5 - -

C J Martin 5 - -

P W E Fitt 4 1 1

P E O'Sullivan 2 - -

K A Ritchie 3 - -

There is an agreed procedure for Directors to take independent professional advice if necessary and at the Company’s
expense.  This is in addition to the access which every Director has to the Company Secretary. The Secretary is
charged by the Board with ensuring that Board procedures are followed.

When new members are appointed to the Board, they are provided with advice from the Company Secretary in respect
of their role and duties as a public company Director. Furthermore, all Directors have ongoing access to the Company
Secretary for advice during the course of their appointment.

Appointments to the Board of both Executive and Non-executive Directors are considered by the Board as a whole.

Any Director appointed during the year is required, under the provisions of the Combined Code, to retire and seek
election by the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting. The Articles of Association also require that one third
of the Directors retire by rotation each year and seek re-election at the Annual General Meeting. The Directors required
to retire are those in office longest since their previous re-election and in practice this means that each Director retires
at least every three years, in accordance with the requirements of the Combined Code.

The Directors who retire by rotation are Mr J N Anderson, Mr N C Howlett and Mr K A Ritchie. All three Directors, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr John Neil Anderson aged 65 founded the Company in 1972 since when he has been Chairman. He has a service
contract which expires on 31 July 2009.

Mr Nicholas Charles Howlett, aged 47, has been with the Company since 1991 when he joined as the manager of one
of our main production units. He was promoted to Works Manager in 1995 and became a subsidiary Company
Director in 1998. He was appointed to the main Board in 2002 and holds the position of Development and 
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Sustainability Director. He has a service contract which expires on 31 July 2009.

Mr Keith Archibald Ritchie, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director in 2005. He is a chartered accountant
employed by Bank of America in London, working in Global Corporate and Investment Banking. He has a service
contract which expires on 31 January 2009.

A statement of Directors’ interests and copies of their service contracts are available for inspection during usual
business hours at the registered office of the Company on each business day before, and will be available at the
place of the Annual General Meeting for fifteen minutes prior to and during the meeting.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, which determines the Company’s policy on Directors’ remuneration, met once
during the financial year and Mr P W E Fitt, Mr J N Anderson and Mr D A Ruffell attended the meeting.

Full details of Directors’ remuneration and a statement of the Company’s remuneration policy are set out in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 12 to 15.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee reports to the Board on matters concerning the Group's internal financial controls, financial
reporting and risk management systems, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or
improvement is needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board for a period of three years and comprises Mr P W E Fitt and Mr D A
Ruffell and is chaired by Mr P W E Fitt.

The Audit Committee met once during the financial year and both Mr P W E Fitt and Mr D A Ruffell attended the
meeting. 

The Audit Committee terms of reference, established by the Board, are to:

• Monitor the integrity of the Group's financial statements and formal announcements relating to the Group's financial
performance, reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

• Review the Group's internal financial controls and risk management systems;

• Review arrangements by which staff may in confidence raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of
financial reporting or other matters;

• Consider at least annually the need for an internal audit function;

• Make recommendations to the Board of Directors for it to put to the shareholders for their approval in general
meeting, in relation to the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

• Review and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements; and

• Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking into
account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm.

The Board believes that due to the size of the business there is currently no requirement for an internal audit function.
This position is reviewed annually.

The Company's auditors, BDO Stoy Hayward LLP, have been instructed to carry out non-audit work during the year
as detailed in note 6 to the financial statements. The non-audit work primarily comprised tax compliance work. The
provision of these services represents a low risk to auditor independence which is safeguarded by separation of staff
and supervision within BDO Stoy Hayward LLP.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Communications with shareholders
The Board recognises the importance of communications with shareholders. The Business Review gives a detailed
review of the business, and there is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders following the Group’s preliminary
announcement of the year end results and at the half year.

The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate with private and institutional investors and welcomes
their participation.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The respective responsibilities of the Directors and the auditors in connection with the financial statements are
explained on pages 7, 8, 20 and 21.

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for establishing and maintaining the Group’s system of internal
control and reviewing its effectiveness.  Internal control systems are designed to meet the particular needs of the Group
and the risks to which it is exposed and by their nature can provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Directors confirm that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group, which complies with the guidance given by the Turnbull Committee.
This has been in place throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report. The process is
regularly reviewed by the Board.

The key procedures that the Directors have established to provide effective internal control include:

• an appropriate control environment through the definition of the organisation structure and 
authority levels.

• the identification of the major business risks facing the Group and the development of appropriate procedures and
controls to manage these risks.

• a comprehensive budgeting and reporting system with monthly results compared with budgets and with previous
years.

The Directors have, through the Audit Committee, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control
by reviewing the procedures noted above and are satisfied that it is appropriate to the size of the business.

The Corporate Governance Report was approved by the Board on 19 December 2008 and signed on its behalf by:
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Independent Auditors' report to the shareholders of 
Titon Holdings Plc
We have audited the Consolidated and Parent Company Financial Statements (the ''Financial Statements'') of Titon
Holdings Plc for the year ended 30 September 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes. These Financial Statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors' Remuneration
Report that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and for preparing the Parent Company Financial Statements and the Directors' Remuneration Report in
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements give a true and fair view and whether the Financial
Statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and whether, in addition, the Consolidated Financial Statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  Additionally, we report to you whether, the
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with those Financial Statements.  We also report to you if, in
our opinion, the Group has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Report reflects the Group’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board's statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
Financial Statements. The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited part of the Directors'
Remuneration Report, the Chairman's Statement, the Corporate Governance Report and the Five Year Summary and
the Directors and Advisors. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
information.

Our report has been prepared pursuant to the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose.  No
person is entitled to rely on this report unless such a person is a person entitled to rely upon this report by virtue of
and for the purpose of the Companies Act 1985 or has been expressly authorised to do so by our prior written
consent.  Save as above, we do not accept responsibility for this report to any other person or for any other purpose
and we hereby expressly disclaim any and all such liability.

Independent Auditors' Report
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Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the
Financial Statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's and Company's
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements
and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be
audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group's affairs as at 30 September 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended;

• the Consolidated Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation;

• the Parent Company’s Financial Statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Parent Company's affairs as at 30 September 2008;

• the Parent Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

BDO Stoy Hayward LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London
19 December 2008



Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2008

22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

Revenue 3 1166,,337755 17,285

Cost of sales ((1122,,880033)) (13,482)

Gross profit 33,,557722 3,803

Distribution costs ((776622)) (618)

Administrative expenses ((22,,995588)) (2,828)

Finance income 5 110011 102

Share of losses from associates 14 ((1122)) -

(Loss) / profit before tax 6 ((5599)) 459

Tax expense 7 ((220055)) (15)

(Loss) / profit for the year attributable to the
equity holders of the parent ((226644)) 444

Earnings per share   -   basic 9 ((22..5500pp)) 4.21p 
-   diluted 9 ((22..5500pp)) 4.21p

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense 
for the year ended 30 September 2008

22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

(Loss) / profit  for the year attributable to the
equity holders of the parent 20 ((226644)) 444

Exchange difference on retranslation of
net assets of subsidiary undertakings 20 ((3322)) 16

Total recognised income and expense for the year
attributable to equity holders of the parent ((229966)) 460

The notes on pages 25 to 45 form part of these financial statements.
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22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 44,,339955 4,662
Intangible assets 11 6611 58
Investments in associates 14 221133 -
Financial assets 16 110000 -

Total non-current assets 44,,776699 4,720

Inventories 15 22,,550077 2,983
Trade and other receivables 16 33,,222244 3,785
Corporation tax -- 31
Cash and cash equivalents 21 22,,554466 1,678

Total current assets 88,,227777 8,477

Total Assets 1133,,004466 13,197

Liabilities

Deferred tax 17 336666 170

Total non-current liabilities 336666 170

Trade and other payables 18 22,,442277 2,190
Bank overdraft 1188 13
Corporation tax 55 -

Total current liabilities 22,,445500 2,203

Total Liabilities 22,,881166 2,373

Equity

Share capital 19 11,,005566 1,056
Share premium reserve 20 886655 865
Capital redemption reserve 20 5566 56
Translation reserve 20 11 33
Share schemes reserve 20 66 3
Retained earnings 20 88,,224466 8,811

Total Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 20 1100,,223300 10,824

Total Liabilities and Equity 1133,,004466 13,197

The notes on pages 25 to 45 form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 19 December 2008 
and signed on its behalf by:

J N Anderson
Chairman

Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 30 September 2008
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22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

Cash generated from operating activities

(Loss) / profit before tax ((5599)) 459
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 664411 675
Amortisation on intangible assets 3377 35
Decrease / (increase) in inventories 447766 (33)
Decrease / (increase) in receivables 554411 (149)
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other current liabilities 222255 (168)
Profit on sale of plant & equipment ((1111)) (31)
Share based payment – equity settled 33 1
Interest received ((110011)) (102)
Share of associate loss 1122 -

Cash generated from operations 11,,776644 687

Income taxes refunded / (paid) 2277 (121)

Net cash generated from operating activities 11,,779911 566

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of shares in associate ((222255)) -
Purchase of property, plant & equipment ((440055)) (363)
Purchase of intangible assets ((4400)) (26)
Proceeds from sale of plant & equipment 4422 66
Interest received 110011 102

Net cash used in investing activities ((552277)) (221)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid to equity shareholders ((330011)) (749)

Issue of loan to associate ((110000)) -

Net cash used in financing activities ((440011)) (749)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents 24 886633 (404)

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year 11,,666655 2,069

Cash & cash equivalents at end of the year 22,,552288 1,665

The notes on pages 25 to 45 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

General information
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2008 incorporates Titon
Holdings Plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). Titon Holdings Plc shares
are publicly traded on the Official List of the London Stock Exchange.

The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 5.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for release on 19 December 2008.

1 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out
below. The policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs
and IFRIC interpretations) as adopted by the European Union and issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies preparing
their accounts under IFRS. 

The Directors have prepared the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) and these are presented separately on pages 46 to 51. 

During the period, the following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards were
published.

i   New IFRS standards applied by the Group
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards published and effective in the current financial
year relevant to the Group:

• IAS 1 (Amendment) - Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007). This requires new disclosures about entities’ management of their capital resources. Disclosure and
Transparency Rules – the main impacts of the new DTR are in respect of time taken to publish interim
results and the disclosures within interim results.

• IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. New standard on disclosures (effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007) which replaces IAS 30 and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32
and locates in one place all disclosures relating to financial instruments. The new requirements incorporate
many of IAS 32’s disclosures as well as additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures on the risks
arising from financial instruments.

ii   New IFRS standards not applied by the Group
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that have been published as mandatory for
later accounting periods but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group:
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• IFRS 8 – Operating Segments  replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment reporting with
the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131 – Disclosures About Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information. The new standard uses a ‘management
approach’ under which segment information is presented on the same basis as
that used for internal reporting purposes.

• IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements Revised. This is a comprehensive
revision introducing the requirement for a statement of comprehensive income that
includes all non-owner changes in equity.

• Revised IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of international Financial Reporting Standards

• Amendment to IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

• Revised IFRS 3 - Business Combinations

Effective date
(periods beginning)

1 January 2009

1 July 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2009

1 July 2009



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

(b) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company (Titon
Holdings Plc) and the entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 September 2008.
Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the financial statements.

Associates 
Where the group has the power to participate in (but not control) the financial and operating policy decisions of
another entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are initially recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost. 

The group's share of post-acquisition profits and losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except that losses in excess of the group's investment in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses. Profits and losses arising on transactions between the group and its
associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in the associate. The investor's
share in the associate's profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying
value of the associate. Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the group's share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount
of the associate. The carrying amount of the investment in associates is subject to impairment in the same way
as goodwill arising on a business combination described above (see accounting policy (h)).

(c) Foreign currency
Transactions entered into by group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (their "functional currency") are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the
balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

On consolidation, the results of overseas operations are translated into Sterling, which is the functional
currency of the parent company, at rates approximating those ruling when the transactions took place.
All assets and liabilities of overseas operations are translated at the rate ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets at opening rate and the results of
overseas operations at actual rate are recognised directly in equity (the "translation reserve").

Upon disposal of overseas subsidiaries exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations are recycled and taken to the consolidated income statement as part of the
profit or loss on disposal. The Company has elected, in accordance with IFRS 1, that in respect of all foreign
operations, any differences that have arisen before 1 October 2004 have been set to zero. Any gain or loss on
the subsequent disposal of those foreign operations would exclude translation differences that arose before the
date of transition to IFRS and include only subsequent translation differences.

All sales from the Group’s UK business are invoiced in sterling.
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• Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 27 - Cost of an Investment in a subsidiary, jointly-
controlled entity or associate

• IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

• IFRIC 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 

• IFRIC 17 - Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 

• Amendment to IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs

• Amendments to IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

• Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 - Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidation

• IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: 
Eligible Hedged Items

Effective date
(periods beginning)

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 October 2008

1 July 2009

1 January 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2009

1 July 2009

ii   New IFRS standards not applied by the Group (continued)



(d) Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (see below).

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing
part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
within the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are
recognised in the income statement as incurred.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation is provided on all other items of property, plant and equipment is to
write off the carrying value of items over their expected useful economic lives. It is applied at the following rates:

Freehold buildings - 2% per annum straight line
Improvements to leasehold property - 20% per annum straight line (or the lease term, if shorter)
Plant and equipment - 10% to 331/3 % per annum straight line
Motor vehicles - 25% per annum straight line

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable (see accounting policy (h)).

(e) Intangible assets
i  Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions was set off against reserves in accordance with Accounting Standards
applicable at the time of acquisition.  For all business combinations occurring prior to 1 October 2004, their
accounting treatment was not restated in preparing the Group’s opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 October 2004.
The Group took advantage of the exemption not to restate acquisitions prior to the date of transition.

Impairment charges are included in the administrative expenses line item in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent they reverse gains previously recognised in the consolidated statement of
recognised income and expense. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed.

ii  Internally generated intangible assets (development costs)

Capitalised development costs are amortised over the periods the group expects to benefit from selling the
products developed.

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:
• it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to be sold;
• there is an intention to complete and sell the product;
• sale of the product will generate future economic benefits; and
• expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria and expenditure on the research phase of internal
projects are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

iii  Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy (h)).

iv  Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

v  Amortisation

Amortisation of internally generated development assets is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the remaining estimated useful lives from the date that the products are available for sale to
customers. The remaining useful lives of such development assets are assessed with the Directors annually.

For other intangible assets amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives from the date that they are available for use.

(f) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated as follows:

Raw materials - cost of purchase on first in, first out basis.

Work in progress and finished goods - cost of raw materials and labour, together with attributable
overheads based on the normal level of activity.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less further costs to completion and disposal. A charge
is made to the income statement for slow moving finished goods stocks. The charge is reviewed at each
balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, bank overdrafts and treasury deposits for cash flow
purposes. The Group has no long term borrowings and any available cash surpluses are placed on deposit. 

(h) Impairment
The carrying amount of the Group's assets, other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Reversals of impairment

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Employee benefits
i Pension costs

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered funds. Contributions to the pension scheme are charged to
the income statement in the year in which they become payable.

ii Share-based payment transactions

The Company provides share option schemes for Directors and for other members of staff. 

In accordance with IFRS 2 – Share-based payments, the fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense to the income statement over the vesting period
of the option and the corresponding credit recognised to the Share Schemes Reserve within equity. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model has been used for calculating the fair value of the Group’s share options. The
Directors believe that this model is the most suitable for calculating the fair value of the equity based share
options. Details of the inputs to the option pricing model are shown in note 26 to the financial statements.

The fair value of the options are determined excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest.
At each balance sheet date the Group revises its estimates of the number of option awards that are expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity. No adjustment is made for failure to achieve market vesting conditions.

iii Accrued holiday pay

Provision is made at each balance sheet date for holidays accrued but not taken at the salary of the relevant
employee at that date. 

(j) Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. They are discounted at a pre-tax rate reflecting current market assessments of the time value of
money and risks specific to the liability.

(k) Revenue
Revenue represents the value of goods delivered and accepted by external customers at invoiced amounts, less
value added tax, net of customer settlement discounts.

(l) Finance income
Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested. 
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(m) Corporation and deferred taxes
Tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. 

i Corporation tax

Current tax is the expected corporation tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

ii Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes.

The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:

• the same taxable group company; or

• different group entities which intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be 
settled or recovered.

(n) Leased assets
Operating leases represent leasing agreements that do not give rights approximating to ownership. Annual
rentals are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense.

(o) Dividends
Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. In the case of interim dividends to equity
shareholders, this is when declared by the Directors. In the case of final dividends, this is when approved by the
shareholders at the AGM.

(p) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets depending on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Group
holds only one class of financial assets, namely loans and receivables which comprise trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. They are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently carried at amortised cost.  

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financial difficulties
on the part of the counterparty or default or significant delay in payment) that the group will be unable to collect
all of the amounts due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision being the difference between
the net carrying amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired
receivable. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance
account with the loss being recognised within distribution expenses in the income statement. On confirmation
that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the
associated provision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which
it has previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments
rather than changes to the amounts owed. 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, such as short term fixed deposits with banks, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within loans and borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(q) Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities depending on the purpose for which the liability was  acquired. The
Group holds only one class of financial liabilities, namely trade payables.

Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently carried at amortised cost. 

(r) Business combinations
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations (see note 12 for
business combinations which took place during the year) using the purchase method. In the consolidated
balance sheet, the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included in the
consolidated income statement from the date on which control is obtained.

2 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual experience may differ from these
estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Valuation of  Inventory 

The Group reviews its inventory on a regular basis and, where appropriate, makes provision for slow moving and
obsolete stock based on estimates of future sales activity. The estimate of the future sales activity will be based
on both historical experience and expected outcomes based on knowledge of the markets in which the Group
operates (see note 15 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided so as to write down the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as
set out in note 1 (d). The selection of these estimated lives requires the exercise of management judgement.

Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.  When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount
of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined based on value in-use calculations prepared on the basis of
management’s assumptions and estimates (see notes 1 (h) and 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Useful lives of intangible assets 

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on the management's estimates of
the period that the assets will generate revenue, which are periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness.
Changes to estimates can result in significant variations in the carrying value and amounts charged to the
consolidated income statement in specific periods (see notes 1 (e) and 11 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements).

Share-based payments

The charge for share-based payment is calculated in accordance with the assumptions described in note 26.
The option valuation model used requires highly subjective assumptions to be made including the future volatility
of the Company’s share price, expected dividend yields, risk-free rate of return and expected staff turnover. The
Directors draw upon a variety of external sources to aid in the determination of the appropriate data to use in
such calculations.
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3 Revenue and segmental information

For management and internal reporting purposes, the Group's operations are currently analysed according to
geographical regions. This is the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

The Group's business is comprised of the following reportable geographic segments:

United Kingdom
Rest of the World

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm's length basis. Segment results include items directly attributable
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment information about the geographic regions is presented below.

Geographic segments 

United Kingdom Rest of the World Consolidated

22000088 2007 22000088 2007 22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000 ££''000000 £'000 ££''000000 £'000

External 1144,,553388 15,275 11,,883377 2,010 1166,,337755 17,285

Intercompany -- - 330000 297 330000 297

Total Revenue 1144,,553388 15,275 22,,113377 2,307 1166,,667755 17,582

Segment result 22,,008800 2,173 7744 138 22,,115544 2,311

Unallocated expenses ((22,,330022)) (1,954)

Losses from associates ((1122)) -

Finance income 110011 102

(Loss) / profit before tax ((5599)) 459

Tax expense ((220055)) (15)

(Loss) / profit  for the year attributable to the equity holders of the parent ((226644)) 444

Balance sheet 22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Assets - Segment total assets
United Kingdom 1122,,660044 12,980
Rest of World 444422 217

Consolidated 1133,,004466 13,197

Liabilities - Segment total liabilities
United Kingdom 22,,666688 2,351
Rest of World 114488 22

Consolidated 22,,881166 2,373



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

3 Revenue and segmental information (continued)

Other information 22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Capital additions
United Kingdom 332277 388
Rest of World 111188 1

Consolidated 444455 389

Depreciation and amortisation
United Kingdom 666677 705
Rest of World 1111 5

Consolidated 667788 710

Business Segments

The Group's operations are separated between Group manufactured products and bought in
products. The following table provides an analysis of the Group's external revenue by source of products,
irrespective of the geographical region of sale.

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Group manufactured products 99,,335511 9,929
Bought in products 77,,002244 7,356

Revenue 1166,,337755 17,285

4 Directors and employees

22000088 2007
Staff costs, including Directors, were as follows: ££''000000 £'000

Wages and salaries 44,,666622 4,915
Employer's social security costs and similar taxes 442211 457
Defined contribution pension cost 223377 241
Share based payment expense – equity settled 33 1

55,,332233 5,614

The average monthly number of employees during NNuummbbeerr Number
the year was as follows:

Manufacturing 115577 187
Sales, marketing and administration 7766 73

223333 260

Details of Directors’ emoluments, pension contributions and interests in share options are given in the Directors’
Remuneration Report set out on pages 12 to 15.
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5 Finance income
22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Bank interest receivable on short term deposits 110011 102

6 (Loss) / Profit before tax

22000088 2007
This is arrived at after charging/(crediting): ££''000000 £'000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 664411 675
Amortisation of intangible assets 3377 35
Research and development expenditure written off 445555 449
Operating lease rentals - land and buildings 113377 94
Auditors' remuneration - to principal auditors for statutory audit 3366 36

- to principal auditors for tax compliance services 66 5
- to principal auditors for other services 33 2

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to such legislation :
Services relating to corporate finance transactions entered into 
or proposed to be entered into by or on behalf of the company 2277 -
All other services 1100 -

Profit on disposal of fixed assets ((1111)) (30)

7 Tax expense

22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

UK corporation tax ((2266)) 34
Adjustment in respect of over provision in prior years 55 (28)

Total UK corporation tax ((2211)) 6

Total overseas tax 3311 9

Total current tax 1100 15

Deferred tax 17 119955 -

Total tax 220055 15



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

7 Tax expense (continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit 22000088 2007
per the income statement as follows: ££''000000 £'000

(Loss) / profit before tax ((5599)) 459

Effect of:
Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 20.5%  (2007: 19%) ((1122)) 87

Difference between tax rates -- (38)

Additional deduction  for R&D expenditure ((3333)) (14)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3311 9

Unrelieved tax losses and other deductions 1199 -

Adjustment in respect of IBAs 222211 -

Effect of difference in exchange rates -- (1)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods ((2211)) (28)

Total tax charge for the year 220055 15

The effective tax rate for the year is 347% (2007: 3.3%)

The total tax charge for the year is affected by the adjustment for Industrial Buildings Allowances (IBAs) which,
under IFRS, will be phased out over a period of four years.

8 Dividends

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Final dividend of 2.3 pence (2007: 4.8 pence) per ordinary
share paid and proposed during the year relating to the
previous year's results 119966 506

Interim dividend of 1.0 pence (2007: 2.3 pence) per ordinary
share paid during the year 110066 243

Unclaimed dividend returned ((11)) -

330011 749

The Directors are proposing a final dividend of 1.0 pence (2007: 2.3 pence) per share. This results in a final
dividend totalling £106,000 (2007: after the waiver of dividend on 2,012,802 shares this resulted in a final dividend
totalling £196,000), subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. This dividend has not
been accrued at the balance sheet date.
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9 Earnings per ordinary share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per 22000088 2007
share is based on the following data: ££''000000 £'000

Numerator
Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being (loss) 
/ profit after taxation attributable to members of Titon Holdings Plc ((226644)) 444

Denominator Number Number
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purposes of basic earnings per share -
at the beginning and end of the year 1100,,555555,,665500 10,555,650

Earnings per share (pence)
Basic ((22..5500pp)) 4.21p
Diluted ((22..5500pp)) 4.21p

Certain employee options have not been included in the calculation of diluted EPS because their exercise is
contingent on the satisfaction of certain criteria that had not been met at the end of the year. The total number of
options in issue is disclosed in the note 26. 

10 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold Improvements Plant Motor Total
land and to leasehold and vehicles
buildings property equipment

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 October 2006 3,437 42 8,165 674 12,318
Additions - 6 243 114 363
Disposals - - (1,404) (99) (1,503)

At 1 October 2007 3,437 48 7,004 689 11,178
Additions 12 2 306 85 405
Disposals - - (247) (172) (419)

At 30 September 2008 3,449 50 7,063 602 11,164

Depreciation
At 1 October 2006 658 42 6,342 267 7,309
Charge for the year 63 3 456 153 675
Disposals - - (1,398) (70) (1,468)

At 1 October 2007 721 45 5,400 350 6,516
Charge of the year 64 3 421 153 641
Disposals - - (244) (144) (388)

At 30 September 2008 785 48 5,577 359 6,769

Net book value
At 30 September 2008 22,,666644 22 11,,448866 224433 44,,339955

At 30 September 2007 2,716 3 1,604 339 4,662



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The Directors are not aware of any events or changes in circumstances during the year which would have a
significant impact on the carrying value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet date.

At 30 September 2008, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant and
equipment amounting to £112,000 (2007: £99,000).

11 Intangible assets
Development

costs
Computer (Internally Total

software generated)

£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 October 2006 164 - 164
Additions 26 - 26

At 1 October 2007 190 - 190
Additions 1 39 40

At 30 September 2008 191 39 230

Depreciation
At 1 October 2006 97 - 97
Charge for the year 35 - 35

At 1 October 2007 132 - 132
Charge for the year 37 - 37

At 30 September 2008 169 - 169

Net book value at the 30 September 2008 2222 3399 6611

At 30 September 2007 58 - 58

The Group has contractual commitments for computer software of £12,000 (2007: £nil). All assets have an
average useful economic life of 0.8 years (2007: 0.9 years)

12 Acquisitions during the period
On 31 July 2008 the Group completed the purchase of a shareholding in a South Korean company, Browntech
Sales Co. Ltd (BTS), whose principle activity is the marketing of window ventilation products in South Korea. 
The Group invested £225,000 for a 49% shareholding and has provided a further £100,000 of unsecured loan
capital which is repayable within 2 years. 

The Group invested £356,000 in a new Korean subsidiary, Titon Korea Co. Ltd, during the year (see note 5 of the
parent company accounts). The initial costs of establishing the subsidiary and trading losses since its inception
are included within the consolidated financial statements.

13 Subsidiaries

A list of the investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership
is given in note 5 to the Parent Company’s separate financial statements.
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14 Associates
The following entities meet the definition of an associate, the Group considers it has power to exercise significant
influence, and have been equity accounted in these consolidated financial statements:

Name of associate Country of Proportion of voting 
incorporation rights held at 30 September

2008 2007

Browntech Sales South Korea 49% -

The remaining 51% shareholding of BTS is held by South Korean investors who, through the their voting shares,
have operational control of the company. 

The Group’s share of the aggregated amounts relating to associates are as follows:

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Total Assets 226688 -

Total liabilities 113377 -

Revenues 5599 -

Profit / (losses) ((1122)) -

Investments in associates at 30 September 2008 include £197,000 (2007: £nil) of goodwill.

The associate (BrownTech Sales Co Ltd – ‘BTS’) has a statutory accounting reference date of 31  December. In
respect of the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 September 2008, the associate has been
included based on un-audited financial statements drawn up to for the two month period to 30 September 2008.

Transactions between the associate and the Group are set out in note 27.

15 Inventories

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Raw materials and consumables 551177 416
Work in progress 554433 660
Finished goods and goods for resale 11,,444477 1,907

22,,550077 2,983 

No inventories (2007: £nil) are carried at fair value less costs to sell.

The carrying value of inventory represents cost less appropriate provisions.  During the year there was a net credit
of £24,000 (2007: net credit £96,000) to the Consolidated Income Statement in relation to the inventory
provisions. The movements in the inventory provisions are included within cost of sales in the Consolidated
Income Statement.



16 Trade and other receivables

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Trade receivables 33,,002299 3,637
Loans to related parties 110000 -
Other debtors 8844 89
Prepayments and accrued income 111111 59

Total trade and other receivables 33,,332244 3,785

Less : non-current portion – loans to related parties ((110000)) -

Current portion 33,,222244 3,785

The average credit period taken on sale of goods by trade debtors is 62 days (2007: 66 days).

All non-current receivables relate to loans to related parties (see note 11 to the Parent Company
accounts). The Directors are confident that the loan will be repaid and therefore the carrying amount 
of the loan is approximate to its fair value.

The carrying amount of a financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
a provision account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
provision account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the provision account. Changes in the carrying amount of the provision account are recognised in the 
income statement.

Movement on the provision for impairment of trade 22000088 2007
receivables are as follows: ££''000000 £'000

At the beginning of the year 6677 66
Provision for receivables impairment 115566 92
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible ((114466)) (27)
Unused amounts reversed ((11)) (64)

At the end of the year 7766 67

As at 30 September 2008 trade receivables of £935,000 (2007: £1,284.000) were past due but not
impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. 
The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows: 

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Up to 3 months 889911 1,284
3 up to 6 months 1177 -
6 up to 12 months 2277 -

993355 1,284
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16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

As at 30 September 2008 trade receivables of £41,000 (2007: £60,000) were past due and impaired. 
These relate to a number of customers. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows: 

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Up to 3 months 3399 44
3 up to 6 months 22 16

4411 60

17 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 21%
(2007: 19%). The movement on the deferred tax account is as shown below:

Accelerated Other Total
capital temporary

allowances differences
£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 October 2006 203 (32) 171
(Credit) / charge to the income statement (47) 47 -

At 1 October 2007 156 15 171
(Credit) / charge to the income statement 219 (24) 195

At 30 September 2008 375 (9) 366

18 Trade and other payables - current

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Trade creditors 11,,664477 1,260
Other creditors 2288 33
Other tax and social security taxes 445522 604
Accruals 330000 293

22,,442277 2,190

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
Year end trade creditors represent 56 days (2007: 42 days) average purchases.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximate to their fair value.
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19 Share capital
22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Authorised
13,600,000 ordinary shares of 10p each 11,,336600 1,360

The movement during the year on the Company's issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each was as follows:

22000088 22000088 2007 2007
NNuummbbeerr ££''000000 Number £'000

At the beginning and end of the year 1100,,555555,,665500 11,,005566 10,555,650 1,056

Share options
Options have been granted over the following number of ordinary shares which were outstanding at 30
September 2008:

Date granted Number of Subscription Exercisable between
shares Price

16.12.98 14,450 89.5p 16.12.01 and 16.12.08
02.06.99 11,600 89.0p 02.06.02 and 02.06.09
18.01.02 119,450 103.5p 18.01.05 and 18.01.12
21.05.04  21,150 91.0p 21.05.07 and 21.05.14
18.05.05 21,300 99.0p 18.05.08 and 18.05.15
18.05.06 35,300 91.0p 18.05.09 and 18.05.16
16.05.07 3,150 127.5p 17.05.10 and 17.05.17

226,400

All share options are granted at market value at the date of grant.

No share options were exercised between 30 September 2008 and 19 December 2008.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008
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20 Changes in equity
Share Share Capital Translation Share Retained Total
capital premium redemption reserve schemes earnings equity

reserve reserve reserve
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 October 2006 1,056 865 56 17 2 9,116 11,112

Profit for the year - - - - - 444 444
Dividends paid - - - - - (749) (749)
Share-based payment
expense - - - - 1 - 1
Translation differences on
overseas operations - - - 16 - - 16

At 30 September 2007 11,,005566 886655 5566 3333 33 88,,881111 1100,,882244

Loss for the year - - - - - (264) (264)
Dividends paid - - - - - (301) (301)
Share-based payment
expense - - - - 3 - 3
Translation differences on
overseas operations - - - (32) - - (32)

At 30 September 2008 11,,005566 886655 5566 11 66 88,,224466 1100,,223300

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:

Reserve Description and purpose

Share premium Premium on shares issued in excess of nominal value

Capital redemption Cancellation of 10p ordinary shares

Translation reserve Cumulative gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of
overseas operations into Sterling

Share scheme Cumulative expense of equity settled share based payments recognised
in the consolidated income statement

Retained earnings Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the consolidated income 
statement and statement of recognised income and expense

21 Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets
The Group has floating rate financial assets which comprise treasury deposits, cash and overdrafts to
finance its operations together with the retained profits generated by operating companies (refer to 
the ‘Financial Assets’ note on page 29 for further details). 

The Group has no long term borrowings and any available cash surpluses are placed on deposit. The Group uses
cash on deposit to manage short term liquidity risks which may arise. 
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21 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
The Group’s floating rate financial assets at 30 September were:

22000088 2007
Currency ££''000000 £'000

Sterling 22,,449999 1,639

US Dollar 1122 7

Euro 1100 32

South Korean Won 2255 -

22,,554466 1,678

The Sterling financial assets have a weighted average interest rate of 4.0% (2007: 4.9%), which was arranged
monthly. The remainder comprise bank current accounts.

Financial liabilities
The Group’s floating rate financial liabilities at 30 September 2008 comprise solely of a Sterling bank overdraft in
the sum of £18,000 (2007: £13,000) repayable on demand. This liability is offset against bank deposits for the
purposes of interest payment calculation.

The Board considers the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to be the same as their book value.

22 Financial instruments - risk management
The group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks; credit risk, foreign exchange risk and
liquidity risk.

In common with other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments.
This note, read in conjunction with the 'Capital Management’ section of the Directors’ Report on pages 6 and 7,
describes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks. Further quantitative
information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements.

There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives,
policies and processes for managing those risks them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in this note.

Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are trade
receivables, cash at bank, bank overdrafts, trade and other payables and loans to related parties.

General objectives, policies and processes

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and polices
and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating
processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s finance function.
The Audit Committee reviews and reports to the Board on  the effectiveness of policies and processes put in place.

The overall objective of the Board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly
affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations. The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from credit sales. It is Group policy,
implemented locally, to assess the credit risk of new customers before entering contracts. Such credit ratings are
taken into account by local business practices.

The Group’s finance function has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed
individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are
offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when available, and trade references. Purchase limits are

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008
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established for each customer, which represents the maximum open amount without requiring senior
management’s approval. These limits are reviewed on a on-going basis. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s
benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group on a prepayment basis.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks. The Group has cash and cash
equivalents with banks with a minimum “AA” rating. 

Quantitative discloses of the credit risk exposure in relation to Trade and other receivables, which are neither past
due nor impaired, are disclosed in the note 16.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises because the Group has operations located in various parts of the world whose
functional currency is not the same as the functional currency in which the Group companies are operating.
Although its global market penetration reduces the Group's operational risk in that, it has diversified into several
markets, the Group’s net assets arising from such overseas operations are exposed to currency risk resulting in
gains or losses on retranslation into Sterling. Only in exceptional circumstances would the Group consider
hedging its net investments in overseas operations as generally it does not consider that the reduction in foreign
currency exposure warrants the cash flow risk created from such hedging techniques.

Foreign exchange risk also arises when individual Group entities enter into transactions denominated in a currency
other than their functional currency. The Group’s policy is, where possible, to allow Group entities to settle liabilities
denominated in their functional currency (primarily Pound Sterling or US Dollar) with the cash generated from their
own operations in that currency. Where Group entities have liabilities denominated in a currency other than their
functional currency (and have insufficient reserves of that currency to settle them) cash already denominated in
that currency will, where possible, be transferred from elsewhere within the Group.

The Group has two overseas subsidiaries in the USA and the South Korea respectively. Their revenues and
expenses, other than those incurred with the UK business, are primarily denominated in their functional currency.
The Board does not believe that there are any significant risks arising from the movements in exchange rates with
these companies due to the insignificance to the Group of their net assets.

All sales from the Group’s UK business are invoiced in Sterling. Purchases made by the UK business from four
overseas suppliers are invoiced to the Group in the local currency of that supplier.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital in that the Group may encounter difficulty in
meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash
to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become due. To achieve this aim, it seeks to maintain cash balances to
meet expected requirements for a period of at least 90 days. The Board receives cash flow projections as well as
information regarding cash balances. At the balance sheet date, these projections indicated that the Group expected
to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reasonably expected circumstances.

The liquidity risk of each Group entity is managed locally. Each operation has a facility with the Group, the amount
of the facility being based on budgets. The budgets are set locally and agreed by the Board in advance, enabling
the Group's cash requirements to be anticipated. Where facilities of Group entities need to be increased, approval
must be sought from the Board. 

23 Leases
Operating leases

The Group leases its headquarters offices in Stanway, Essex on a tenant repairing lease which ends in March
2009, but for which negotiations are in progress to extend until September 2011. The property lease on a small
industrial unit in Haverhill, Suffolk ends in December 2008 and is not being renewed. The one year tenancy of the
factory unit in South Korea will be renewed for a further period in 2009.

At the year end the Group had total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, in respect of land and
buildings, as set out below:

22000088 2007
Operating leases which expire within: ££''000000 £'000

Not later than one year 4499 -

Later than one year and not later than five years -- 157
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24 Notes supporting the cash flow statement
The table below provides an analysis of net cash and cash equivalents during the year ended 30 September 2008:

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Cash available on demand 11,,004466 378
Short-term deposits 11,,550000 1,300

Cash at bank 22,,554466 1,678
Overdraft ((1188)) (13)

22,,552288 1,665

Net cash increase / (decrease) in cash equivalents 886633 (404)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11,,666655 2,069

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 22,,552288 1,665

25 Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered funds. The pension cost charge represents contributions
payable by the Group to these funds during the year (see note 4). The unpaid contributions outstanding at the
year end, included in accruals (note 16) are £nil (2007: £30,000).   

26 Share-based payments
Equity settled share option scheme

The Group provides share option schemes for Directors and for other members of staff. 

There are presently two equity settled share option schemes; one Inland Revenue approved and the other
unapproved in which employees may be invited to participate.  Both of these schemes were introduced in February
1998. The exercise of options granted under these schemes is dependent upon the growth in the earnings per share
of the Group, over any three consecutive financial years following the date of grant, exceeding the growth in the retail
price index over the same period by at least 9 per cent. 

In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value of outstanding equity settled share based option awards to employees,
which have been granted after 7 November 2002, but not vested as at 1 January 2005, are recognised as an
expense to the income statement. 

The vesting period of all share option schemes is three years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten
years from the date of grant, or on an employee leaving the group, the options expire.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2008 2008 2007 2007

Number Weighted Number Weighted
of share average of share average
options exercise price options exercise price

(pence) (pence)

Outstanding at beginning of year 358,650 95.7p 361,800 95.0p

Granted during the year - - 6,300 127.5p

Lapsed during the year (132,250) 90.6p (9,450) 89.2p

Outstanding at the end of the year 226,400 98.7p 358,650 95.7p

There were no share options which met the conditions of exercise, mentioned above, during the year (2007: nil).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was nil (2007: nil).
The options outstanding at 30 September 2008 had a weighted average price of 98.7p (2007: 95.7p) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 3.3 years (2007: 4.0 years).  In the year to 30 September 2008 no new share options
were granted. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted in the year was £nil (2007: £1,000).

The Black-Scholes option pricing model has been used for calculating the fair value of the Group’s share options.
The calculated fair values of the share option awards are adjusted to reflect actual and expected vesting levels.

The inputs to the Black-Scholes model were as follows:

2008 2007

Weighted average exercise price (pence) - 127.5p

Share price volatility - 30.0%

Expected life of the share option - 6 years

Risk free rate of return - 5.21%

Expected dividend yield - 6.50%

There were no new share options granted in the year.

Assumptions used in the option pricing model 

a) The expected life (the period between the date of grant and exercise) of a share option is 6 years.

b) Each issue of share option awards is assessed, at date of grant, to calculate the total fair value. The fair value of
share options is charged to the income statement over the 3 year vesting period.

c) Share price volatility is calculated by looking back six years from the date of grant for each share option, as it is
expected that the historic volatility in the share price is the best measure of likely movement in the share price in
the future and therefore during the life of the share option from the date of grant until the date of exercise.

d) Volatility has been calculated using the historic weekly movement, rather than daily movement, in the Company's
share price as this is, in the opinion of the Directors, the most reasonable measure of the share price.

e) Dividend yields are expected to be similar to those in recent years.

f) A risk free rate of return has been used based on the Bank of England zero coupon rates.

27 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. There were no transactions, agreements or other arrangements,
direct or indirect, during the year in which the Directors had any interest. Key management who hold the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the Group are comprised solely of the
Directors. Their remuneration is disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 14 of this document.

Transactions between subsidiary companies and the associate company, which is a related party, were as follows:

Sale of goods Amount owed by related party

Year ended 30 September Year ended 30 September

2008 2007 2008 2007
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Browntech Sales 42 - 29 -

The amount owed by Browntech Sales to the Group at 30 September 2008 is the unpaid portion of goods sold
by subsidiaries to the associate. The Group expects trading debts between subsidiaries and associates to be
settled on a standard commercial basis.
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Parent Company Balance Sheet
at 30 September 2008

22000088 2007
Note ££''000000 £'000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 4 22,,668800 2,753
Investments in subsidiaries 5 555500 202
Investments in associates 5 222255 -

33,,445555 2,955

Current assets

Debtors 6 33,,006699 4,574
Other debtors - due after one year 11 110000 -
Cash at bank and in hand 22,,338822 1,639

55,,555511 6,213

Creditors : amounts falling due within one year 7 ((113344)) (102)

Net current assets 55,,441177 6,111

Total assets less current liabilities 88,,887722 9,066

Provisions for liabilities 8 1111 (138)

88,,888833 8,928

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 9 11,,005566 1,056
Share premium account 10 886655 865
Capital redemption reserve 10 5566 56
Profit and loss account 10 66,,990066 6,951

Equity shareholders' funds 10 88,,888833 8,928

The notes on pages 47 to 51 form part of these financial statements..

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 19 December 2008 and
signed on its behalf by:

J N Anderson
Chairman
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Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008

Titon Holdings Plc (the Company) is incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. 
The address and the registered office are given on page 55.

1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the treatment of certain financial
instruments, in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK
GAAP) and law.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’, not to restate within the parent company accounts details of financial
instruments as these are included within the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(b) Property and other fixed assets

(i) Owned assets

Items of property and other fixed assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation
(see below).

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less estimated residual values, of all fixed assets, except freehold
land, over their expected useful lives.  It is calculated, on a straight line basis, at the following annual rates:

Freehold buildings - 2%

Motor vehicles - 25%

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If there is any impairment to the value of
tangible fixed assets a charge is recognised in the profit and loss account.

(c) Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to
pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more, tax, with the following exception:

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can
be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

(d) Share-based payment transactions
The Company provides share option schemes for Directors and for other Group employees. 

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an
expense to the profit and loss account. The amount expensed to the profit and loss account over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date the Company revises its estimates of the number of
options awards that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised
in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment to equity shareholders' funds. No adjustment
is made for failure to achieve market vesting conditions.

Disclosures in respect of share-based payments are made in note 26 of the Group Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(e) Investments
Fixed asset investments are held at cost less any provision for impairment.
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2 Profit for the year

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company has elected not to present its own profit
and loss account for the year. Titon Holdings Plc reported a profit after tax for the financial year ended 30
September 2008 of £253,000 (2007 : £146,000).

3 Directors and employees

22000088 2007
Staff costs, including Directors, were as follows: ££''000000 £'000

Wages and salaries 551166 531
Employer's social security costs and similar taxes 5599 62
Defined contribution pension cost 4466 51

662211 644

The average monthly number of employees during the year NNuummbbeerr Number
was as follows:

1100 10

The Directors’ emoluments for the period are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 14 of this
document.

4 Tangible assets

Freehold Motor Total
land and vehicles
buildings

Cost £'000 £'000 £'000

At beginning of year 3,437 82 3,519

At end of year 3,450 82 3,532

Depreciation
At beginning of year 721 45 766
Charge for the year 65 21 86

At end of year 786 66 852

Net book value
at 30 September 2008 22,,666644 1166 22,,668800

At 30 September 2007 2,716 37 2,753

Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008
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5 Fixed asset investments

The Company has invested £356,000 in a new Korean subsidiary, Titon Korea Co. Ltd during the year and holds
a 100% shareholding at 30 September 2008.  

The liquidation of a dormant subsidiary, Titon BV formerly incorporated in the Netherlands, was completed on 5
October 2007 and a final distribution was made to the parent company.

££''000000

At the beginning of the year 202

Investments during the year 356

Disposal of investments (8)

At the end of the year 550

Investments comprise 100% direct shareholdings of the ordinary share capital in the following principal
subsidiaries, all of which are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

Country
Name of subsidiary Principal activity of incorporation

Titon Hardware Limited Design, manufacture and marketing England
of window fittings and ventilators

Titon Inc. Distribution of Group products USA

Titon Korea Manufacture of window ventilators South Korea

For the subsidiaries listed above, the country of operation is the same as the country of incorporation. 

The following entities meet the definition of an associate company and have been equity accounted in the
consolidated financial statements:

Country
Name of associate Principal activity of incorporation Proportion of voting rights

and operation held at 30 September

2008 2007

BrownTech Sales Co. Ltd Marketing of window South Korea 49% -
ventilators

In July 2008 the Company completed the formation of a ‘joint venture’ agreement with a South Korean company,
BrownTech Sales Co. Ltd (BTS). Under the agreement, the Company has invested £225,000 for a 49%
shareholding in BTS.

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Sundry debtors 77 6
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 33,,006622 4,568

33,,006699 4,574

Amounts owed by subsidiaries are payable on demand.

6 Debtors
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7 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Trade creditors 11 2
Bank overdraft 1188 -
Corporation tax 2266 15
Accruals 8899 85

113344 102

8 Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax is calculated in full on timing differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 21% (2007: 19%).
The movement on the deferred tax account is as shown below:

Accelerated Other
capital temporary

allowances differences Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 October 2007 143 (5) 138

(Credit) / charge to the income statement      (154) 5 (149)

At 30 September 2008 (11) - (11)

9 Share capital

22000088 2007
££''000000 £'000

Authorised
13,600,000 ordinary shares of 10p each 11,,336600 1,360

The movement during the year on the Company’s issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each was 
as follows:

22000088 22000088 2007 2007
NNuummbbeerr ££''000000 Number £'000

At the beginning of the year 10,555,650 1,056 10,555,650 1,056

Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements
at 30 September 2008
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10 Reconciliation of shareholders funds and movement on reserves

Share Share Capital Profit Total
capital premium redemption and loss equity

reserve reserve account

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 30 September 2007 1,056 865 56 6,951 8,928

Profit for the year - - - 253 253

Dividends paid - - - (301) (301)

Share-based payment 
expense - - - 3 3

At 30 September 2008 1,056 865 56 6,906 8,883

Included within retained earnings is £111,000 of goodwill (2007: £111,000) arising on business combinations in
prior years, and prior to the implementation of FRS 10.

11 Related party loan
The Company provided BrownTech Sales Co. Ltd with a £100,000 unsecured loan in September 2008 which is
repayable with interest at 3% p.a. within 2 years.

Summarised consolidated results

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS UK GAAP

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Results

Revenue 16,375 17,285 16,600 16,436 16,401

Gross Profit 3,572 3,803 4,161 4,064 3,896

Net Interest 101 102 112 151 125

Share of losses from associates (12) - - - -

Taxation 205 15 219 328 305

Dividends 301 749 749 747 749

Basic earnings per share (2.50p) 4.21p 6.40p 8.08p 7.19p

Assets Employed

Property, plant & equipment 4,395 4,662 5,009 4,242 4,291

Net funds 2,546 1,678 2,069 3,359 3,311

Net current assets 5,827 6,274 6,206 6,994 6,335

Financed by
Shareholders' funds : all equity 10,230 10,824 11,112 11,138 10,531

The five year summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

The amounts disclosed for 2004 are stated on the basis of UK GAAP as it is not practicable to restate amounts
for periods prior to the date of transition to IFRS. 

UK GAAP results have not been retrospectively restated to reflect changes to financial reporting standards in
subsequent years.

Five Year Summary
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Titon Holdings Plc (“the Company”) will be held at the Titon
Manufacturing Division premises at Falconer Road, Haverhill, Suffolk, CB9 7XU on 17 February 2009 at 10.00 am for
the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
1. To receive and adopt the financial statements and reports of the Directors and of the Auditors for the year ended

30 September 2008.

2. To declare a final dividend of 1.0p per share on the ordinary shares of the Company for the year ended 
30 September 2008.

3. To re-elect Mr John Neil Anderson as a Director of the Company.

4. To re-elect Mr Nicholas Charles Howlett as a Director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Mr Keith Archibald Ritchie as a Director of the Company.

6. To re-appoint BDO Stoy Hayward LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to determine
their remuneration.

Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions, of which Resolutions 8, 9 and 11 will be proposed as
a Special Resolution and Resolutions 7 and 10 will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions.

7. THAT

(a) In accordance with Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) the Directors be and are hereby
generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities
(within the meaning of Section 80) within the terms of the restrictions and provisions following, namely:

(i) this authority shall (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) expire at the end of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company following the passing of this Resolution or on 16 May 2010
whichever shall occur earlier; and

(ii) this authority shall be limited to the allotment of relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £250,000 (representing approximately 23.7% of the existing issued share capital of the Company 
as at 19 December 2008 (being the latest practicable date before publication of this document). 

(b) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (a) above the said authority shall allow and enable the Company to make
an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of such
authority and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the
authority conferred hereby had not expired.

8. THAT

(a) Conditionally upon the passing of Resolution 7 above and in accordance with Section 95 of the Act, the
Directors be and are hereby given power to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94(2) to
94(3A) of the Act) for cash, pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 7 above, as if sub-section (1) of
Section 89 of the Act did not apply to such allotment provided that:

(i) the power hereby granted shall be limited :

(aa) to the allotment of equity securities in connection with or pursuant to an offer by way of rights to
holders of shares in the Company and other persons entitled to participate therein, in the
proportion (as nearly as may be) to such holders’ holding of such shares (or, as appropriate, to
the number of shares which such other persons are for these purposes  deemed to hold) subject
only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may feel necessary or expedient
to deal with fractional entitlements or legal, regulatory or practical problems under the laws of or
the requirements of any territory, any recognised regulatory body or stock exchange; and

(bb) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) (aa) of this proviso) of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £50,000 (representing approximately 4.7% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company as at 19 December 2008 (being the latest
practicable date before publication of this document);
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(ii) the power hereby granted shall (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) expire at the end of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company following the passing of this Resolution or on 16 May 
2010 whichever shall occur earlier.

(b) The said power shall allow and enable the Company to make an offer or agreement which would or might
require equity securities to be allotted after the expiry of such power and the Directors may allot equity
securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred herein had not expired.

(c) This power applies in relation to a sale of shares which is an allotment of equity securities by virtue of Section
94 (3A) of the Act as if in sub-paragraph (a) of this Resolution the words “pursuant to the authority conferred
by Resolution 7 above” were omitted.

9. THAT

The Company be and is hereby generally authorised pursuant to Section 166 of the Act to make market
purchases (within the meaning of Section 163(3) of the Act) of its ordinary shares, on such terms and in such
manner as the Directors shall determine, provided that: 

(i) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is an aggregate of
1,055,565 shares;  

(ii) the price per share shall not be more than the higher of:

(aa) 5% above the average of the middle market values of an ordinary share of the 
Company (as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the 
5 business days before the purchase is made; and

(bb)  the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on
the trading venue where the purchase is carried out

(in each case exclusive of expenses)

(iii) the price per share shall not be less than 10 pence per ordinary share; and

(iv) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall expire (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) 
at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company following the passing of this
Resolution or on 16 May 2010, whichever shall occur earlier (except in relation to the purchase of
ordinary shares the contract for which was concluded before such date which will or may be executed
wholly or partly after such date).

10. THAT

The Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on pages 12 to 15 of the annual report and financial statements
for the year ended 30 September 2008 be and is hereby approved.

11. THAT

The Articles of Association produced to the meeting (and for the purpose of identification signed by the
Chairman of the meeting) be adopted as the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution for, and
to the exclusion of, the existing Articles of Association.

By order of the Board

D A Ruffell
Secretary
19 December 2008

Registered Office
International House

Peartree Road
Stanway

Colchester
Essex CO3 0JL
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Notes:

1. In accordance with Regulation 41 of The Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members entered
on the register of members of the Company as at 10:00 a.m. on 15 February 2009 (or, in the case of an
adjournment, 48 hours before the time of the adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend or vote at the Annual
General Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time.  Changes to entries on
the register of members after 10:00 a.m. on 15 February 2009 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of
any person to attend or vote at the Meeting.

2. A copy of the service contract of each Executive Director, the letter of appointment of each Non-executive Director,
the proposed new Articles of Association of the Company and a comparison showing all proposed changes to the
Articles of Association are available for inspection during usual business hours at the registered office of the
Company on each business day before, and will be available at the place of the Annual General Meeting for fifteen
minutes prior to and during, the Meeting.

3. Every member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies
to attend, speak and vote instead of that member.  A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the
Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held
by that member.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4. A proxy form is enclosed with this notice.  Instructions for use are shown on the form.

5. To be valid, the form of proxy must be deposited with the company’s registrars, Capita Registrars Ltd at PO Box
25, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR, NOT LATER THAN 10:00 a.m. on 15 February 2009, together with the power of
attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of such power or authority.
The completion and return of the form of proxy will not, however, preclude you from attending and voting at the
meeting if you so wish.

6. Relating to persons nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”):

The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons nominated to enjoy information rights under section 146
of the 2006 Act (“nominated persons”).  Nominated persons who have been sent a copy of this notice of Annual
General Meeting are hereby informed, in accordance with section 149(2), of the 2006 Act that they may have a
right under an agreement with the registered member by whom they were nominated to be appointed, or to have
someone else appointed, as a proxy for this meeting.  If they have no such right, or do not wish to exercise it, they
may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the registered member as to the exercise of
voting rights.  Nominated persons should contact the registered member by whom they were nominated in respect
of these arrangements.

The statement of the rights of members relating to the appointment of proxies in notes 3, 4 and 5 above do not
apply to nominated persons. The rights described in those notes can only be exercised by members of the
Company.

7. As at 18 December 2008 (being the last business day prior to the publication of this notice) the Company’s issued
share capital comprised 10,555,650 ordinary shares.  Each ordinary share carried the right to one vote on a poll
at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at that date are
10,555,650.  As at 18 December 2008, the Company held no ordinary shares as treasury shares.

8. You may not use any electronic address, fax number or telephone number provided in this notice or in any
accompanying document for delivering this proxy form or communicating with the Company for any purposes
other than those expressly stated.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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